
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB‑2004‑0513 

RP-2004-0513


	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:
	Submissions on Motion for Rehearing

March 29, 2006

Paul Sommerville

Cathy Spoel


	Presiding Member

Member




EB‑2004‑0513

RP-2004-0513

THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O.1998, c.15, Schedule B;

AND IN THE MATTER OF a rehearing of an Application by Westcoast Huron Energy Inc. for an Order or Orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates and other charges for the distribution of electricity.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street, Suite 1700, 

Ontario Environmental Review Tribunal,

Toronto, Ontario, on Wednesday,

March 29, 2006, commencing at 9:30 a.m.

-----------------------------------

Submissions on Motion for Rehearing

-----------------------------------

B E F O R E:

PAUL SOMMERVILLE

PRESIDING MEMBER
CATHY SPOEL


MEMBER

A P P E A R A N C E S

Michael Millar


Board Counsel

Harold Thiessen


Board Staff

James Sidlofsky
Westcoast Huron Energy

Neal Smitheman



Sifto (Canada) Inc.



Jennifer Egsgard
 

I N D E X   O F   P R O C E E D I N G S

Description







Page No.

-- Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.




1

Submissions by Mr. Smitheman





1

Questions from the Board






6

Submissions by Mr. Sidlofsky





11

Questions from the Board






27

Procedural Matters







30

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 10:30 a.m.

31
E X H I B I T S

Description







Page No.

NO EXHIBITS WERE ENTERED DURING THIS HEARING
U N D E R T A K I N G S

Description







Page No.


NO UNDERTAKINGS WERE ENTERED DURING THIS HEARING
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‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  Thank you.

      We have a slightly different configuration this morning.  Is the reporter picking up what I'm saying?

     This is the continuation of the matter that the Board has designated as EB-2004-0513, RP-2004-0513, which is a motion for review of a Board order of November 2001.  

     The purpose of today's proceeding is to provide the parties, Sifto Salt and Westcoast Huron Energy, an opportunity to make a very brief presentation with respect to their written submissions and to answer questions arising from their arguments on the record.

      Are there any preliminary matters?

      Are there any new appearances?  It appears not.

      The Board proposes to have the applicant proceed first with its brief statement, and the Board will then ask questions of the applicant relating to its argument.  We will then proceed to Westcoast's brief presentation, and then questions. 

     Mr. Smitheman?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SMITHEMAN:

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes.  Thank you.  Good morning to everyone.  

     All the materials, I take it, are already before the Board, so that you have Sifto's submissions and then Westcoast's and then finally Sifto's reply.  All right.

     And what I propose to do is just take a few minutes just to go over basically what I think is the most important part and essential part of the argument for Sifto.

      If I look at this in terms of almost like a mathematical syllogism, we find that the major premise in all of this is really that unbundling is to be revenue-neutral.  The minor premise, basically, is how do you get there?  And you get there by determining the distribution rate when you take the overall revenue and you simply reduce the cost of power.  It's a simple formula.  The conclusion, in my little syllogism, is that there should be a just and reasonable distribution rate.

      In our respectful submission, the 10 percent increase that resulted after the order of this Board in October of 2001, resulting in approximately an increase of $250,000 to Sifto, was not just and reasonable.  The proof is simply in the pudding.  Once you apply this formula, we see that it's not revenue-neutral.  The conclusion is clearly not just and reasonable.

      In those circumstances, in our respectful submission, something should have been done.  Westcoast should have gone back.  Westcoast experts should have looked at it again.  There was something wrong.  Instead what Westcoast did was simply apply slavishly their interpretation of a formula, a formula that resulted in a failure to obtain just and reasonable distribution rates.

      The formula that we propose, or the data that should have been used, as it were, in this minor premise included large-user rates, and all the information and all the evidence has been provided by Mr. Snelson and others.  That would have resulted in the proper conclusion, namely, just and reasonable rates, namely, revenue neutrality.

      The 2001 decision was wrong.  And what is, I think, very telling is that everyone admits that it was wrong; wrong for different reasons, but it was clearly inaccurate and incomplete.  It was inaccurate and incomplete because there was inaccurate and incomplete data provided.  

     Now, why should this Board now change?  That is the question that has been raised, mainly by Westcoast.

      The easy response is because it's simply the right thing to do.  There has been an unfairness, an injustice, created by the misapplication and misinterpretation of the formula for determining distribution rates.

      Westcoast's approach seems to be:  Well, all of this will come out in the cost-allocation wash.  It will all be determined and we shouldn't go back.  Maybe there were some mistakes, but it's, like, too bad, so sad, we'll move on.  Well, that costs us a million dollars.  And that's unfair.

     In addition, it's important, I think, to underscore that Westcoast had information and knowledge that it kept from the Board.  Westcoast did not come to the 2001 submissions with clean hands, the "clean hands" doctrine, as they refer to in equity and in law.

      It was admitted in the cross-examination that there was $132,000 with respect to incremental power that Westcoast knew about.  That was not brought to the attention of the Board, which would have had an impact on the determination of the distribution rates.  Also, in cross-examination, we learned that the diversity credit was something that was in Westcoast's knowledge.

      The response to all that is, Well, there are various other things that weren't brought to the Board's attention either.  There were coincidence factors that should have been applied.  

     The conclusion that can only be drawn when you look at all of this, even from Westcoast's point of view, is that the decision and the information that was provided was clearly wrong.  So we have an opportunity now to redress the balance.  And that's what we've asked for.

      And one of the things that has been raised ex post facto, well after the fact, is this administrative charge, which Westcoast has spent a great deal of time in their submissions attempting to deal with.

     What Westcoast has raised in their argument for the first time is this quantum meruit, unjust enrichment, approach. 

      The response to that from Sifto's point of view is very simple:  You can't have a quantum meruit claim at the same time as you have a contract.  It doesn't work that way.  There is a contract in place.  There is an agreement between the parties for the supply of power, distribution, and the payment.  There was that in place, whether it's a written agreement or not, but the relationship between Westcoast and Sifto is clearly one of contract.  In law it's contract.  The fact that it may not be evidenced by writing is inconsequential.

     Once you have a contract, you can't then claim for quantum meruit, because what you're claiming for in quantum meruit is really something that is either in or not in the contract as between the parties.  It's just simply a legal interpretation that I'm providing.  And it's supported in the case law.  We provided that to this Board.

     So the quantum meruit claim fails utterly.

     Basically what I think my friend is trying to argue is that we failed to get an agreement on the administrative charge so now we're saying that we're entitled to it on a quantum meruit basis.  Doesn't work that way.  It's either in the contract as a term of the contract, or it isn't.  

     And the evidence clearly shows, in my respectful submission, that there is at least uncertainty, if not ambiguity.  And that's not something that's easily, or in fact, I would suggest, should not be decided by this Board.  That's a civil matter, and, in order to be properly determined, it's something that should be determined by a court of law.  It's something that should be determined as between the parties what are the terms of agreement between the parties. 

      If this Board tries to make that determination, it's going to be very difficult.  There are credibility issues that haven't even been delved into.  There are legal issues that have not even been approached.  The whole issue of an uncertainty of contract.  The fact that there haven't been examinations for discovery.  I mean, this is not the place to try and enforce a term of the contract or to try to show that there has been some quantum meruit or an unjust enrichment on the part of one party or the other.  This is simply not the place to do it.

     In any event, in my respectful submission, if this Board wants to delve into that, we have put lengthy submissions in our materials.  But basically it boils down to unjust enrichment does not apply.  There isn't a contract that says that we're to pay the administrative charge.

     All the other evidence surrounding that is that there have been certain amounts paid in terms of an administrative charge.  We heard evidence from Mr. McCabe that there was this 3 percent charge for local costs that appeared on RTPII bills.  I mean, that was clearly partly an administrative charge.  That was paid by Sifto because they were billed for it.  They were never billed for any of the other amounts that they're claiming now.

      But I don't want to go on too long about the administrative charge.  That's, in my respectful submission, just a small part of it.

      So that basically, in essence, is the position that Sifto has put forward in its materials.  Thank you.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Smitheman.

     Ms. Spoel?

     Mr. Smitheman - and Mr. Sidlofsky, I'll be asking a like question of you - this arises, I suppose, from paragraph 117 of your materials, Mr. Smitheman, your argument in-chief.  

     There is a table that shows a series of amounts, and I'd just like to be very clear about the specific amounts that are in play with respect to the power factor, the diversity credit, the cost of power to Sifto, the distribution cost to Sifto, and the amount to be recovered from ratepayers according to your theory of the case. And those numbers, I think we've asked that they be adjusted to April 30th, so I just want to be very clear about what those numbers are.  

     And there's a following question that relates to the figures where there's still some resolution that is needed as between the parties, in order to come up with a workable number at the end of the day.  So if I could have your observations on that.

      So what I'd like first off is what the power factor number is as you see it.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Pardon me.  Sorry.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's fine.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Ms. Egsgard points out, if we go to page 40, I think this explains it.  Yes, the power factor penalty.  Good.  And you can tell I didn't read this.

     Page 40, paragraph numbered 2, the power factor penalty revenue is dealt with there.  I think that answers your question, Mr. Sommerville.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Page 40?  You mean paragraph 40?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  No.  No.  Page 40, paragraph 142(b)(2).  

"The double counting of the power factor penalty has been calculated to be $277,483 and is included in this amount."

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  I see that in 142, Mr. Smitheman.  Thank you.

     The 5 percent interest rate that you suggest, what is the basis for selecting that number?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Prejudgment interest.  That's just the normal interest rate that one would obtain from a court if, for example, it's successful in a damage claim.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  What it just does is provide us with the value of the money today, the cost of the money.  It is not a bank rate; it simply puts the parties now in a position that they would have been in if they had the money when they should have received the money.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  There is a suggestion in Mr. Sidlofsky's argument that Sifto appears to be excluding itself from the operation of implications for ratepayers.  According to your theory of the case, there is a portion of money that would have to be made up, in effect, by ratepayers in order to correct the rate that Sifto is charged under the large-user category.

      There's a suggestion in Mr. Sidlofsky's materials that somehow you are seeking to exclude yourself from the operation of that general effect on ratepayers.  Is that so?  And, if that is so, what is the rationale for that?

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  I don't think that is so because I think that -- and Mr. Snelson suggested a way of dealing with this is to not go back but to look forward.  And there will be an increase overall in order to redress the balance, as it were, but Sifto will also partake of that increase as one of their customers.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  I think that's in the materials.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Those are my questions.

     MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Smitheman, one issue.  I don't know if you have the data handy to do this, but it seems to me there are a number of issues that we have to deal with on our decision.  

     First of all, is the 1999 basis appropriate in looking at an ongoing RTPII class, in effect?  And then we add on to that the next issue, I would say, which is:  What is the appropriate coincidence factor, just to give an example?

     And I wonder if you looked at the various permutations of those.  And I probably should have asked Mr. Snelson this question when he was giving evidence but I didn't think of it then.

      So, let's say we accepted your argument that it should be that a large-user class does not include RTPII.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Yes?

     MS. SPOEL:  But let's say we accepted Westcoast Huron's argument that the coincidence factor should be 70 percent.  Have you looked at what impact that would have on these numbers?  We sort of ended up going --

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  I think Westcoast has, actually, in some of their submissions.  I'm not sure.  Just a second.

     Sorry, yes.  I stand corrected.  Westcoast has not applied the coincidence factor to large-user rate but to  RTPII rate; right?

     MS. SPOEL:  I was going to ask them a similar question.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And it's a matter of just simply plugging in the numbers, I would suppose, to coming out with the amount.  And I don't think we have done that.  Or have you, Mr. Snelson?  

     While Mr. Snelson is trying to come up with that answer, I would like to say, with respect to the coincidence factors and the number of coincidence factors that have been suggested, the best evidence that we have so far of what the coincidence factor should be is the one that was provided, in my respectful submission, by Mr. Snelson in looking at the previous coincidence factors that were in play with Ontario Hydro in 1996.  That seems to be the best evidence.  

     Without getting into the hearsay issue about the coincidence factor that is proposed by Westcoast, what I will say about that is that it seems that Westcoast was given a discount by OPG that was not passed on.

     MS. SPOEL:  Yes, I understand your argument.  I completely understand your argument on that point, and this question was really --

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  Oh, just on the coincidence --

     MS. SPOEL:  It wasn't that I didn't understand your argument.  It was more what was the outcome if I didn't accept your argument on that particular point, because I certainly understand your position.

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  As long as Mr. Snelson has enough time to give me the answer.

     MS. SPOEL:  And you don't have to fill in ...

     MR. SMITHEMAN:  And we don't have any (inaudible)...

     Yes, I didn't have to talk (inaudible)...

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Smitheman.

     Mr. Sidlofsky.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I'll be a little bit longer than Mr. Smitheman.  I hope the Board will indulge me.  I may be about 15 minutes, if that's okay.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that was the allotted time.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that was the allotted time.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Oh, okay.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think so.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Perfect, then.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SIDLOFSKY:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  As Mr. Snelson was sitting near and assisting Mr. Smitheman, I have Mr. Bacon here this morning to assist as well.  Depending on the Board's questions, I may ask Mr. Bacon to comment.  I'm not proposing to put him up as a witness because I know the Board isn't looking for new evidence here, but it may be better to have the answer come from him directly, if that is all right with the Board.

      I'm proposing to do two things this morning, and they're really related.  One is to provide a brief summary of the Westcoast Huron position in this matter, and second is just to provide some brief comments on a number of matters raised in the Sifto submission.

      As I think the Westcoast submission made clear, there are complex technical issues here as to the calculation of the appropriate rates and amounts owed to Westcoast or Sifto, depending on the party that's making the submission.

      But there remains one key issue, and that was set out at paragraph 24 of the Westcoast argument of March 10th; that is, in developing its initial unbundled distribution rates through its rate application filed in December of 2000, should Westcoast have treated Sifto as an RTPII customer, as it was in 1999 and, in fact, as it was from 1997 into 2001, but, fundamentally, as it was in 1999, which was the base year for unbundling in the Board's Rate Handbook; or as a large-use customer that was not on the RTPII pricing plan, as was the case in 2001 when the Board issued Westcoast's initial unbundled rate order?

     Once that question is answered by the Board, Westcoast continues to believe that the numbers are capable of resolving themselves, particularly through what we would expect would be the co-operation of the parties after the Board renders its decision.

      Westcoast Huron's position in this matter has remained consistent since it was first called on to respond to the original Sifto submissions in 2002, and, put simply, Westcoast prepared its application in 2000 in compliance with the Board's Distribution Rate Handbook.  Not only did it do so but, in fact, it was required to do so, because not only was the making of the application a requirement of the Board, but compliance with the Handbook, with that Handbook, the initial Electricity Distribution Rate Handbook, was a condition of Westcoast Huron's electricity distributor licence.

     Now, Westcoast used 1999 data in preparing its unbundled rates.  The Board's intention in requiring that was that the use of existing 1999 data would preserve class revenue neutrality.  As Mr. Bacon can testify, unbundling Westcoast's distribution rates while taking into account Sifto's status as an RTPII customer in 1999 preserves that rate class revenue neutrality.

     That was effectively a substitute for cost-allocation studies that could not be performed in the time available for the preparation of the initial rate applications. In fact, as everyone in the room here will know, those cost-allocation studies are still outstanding.

      As Mr. Bacon, who wrote the relevant provision of the Handbook, testified, the better information that a distributor might have and that would form the basis of an approach other than the 1999 data would typically be a cost-allocation study.

     As the Board, Sifto and its consultant are well aware, both Mr. Snelson and Mr. Bacon have been participating in the Board's current work on cost allocation that has been taking place this year.  Ontario's LDCs will be filing cost-allocation studies later this year, and the Board has recently announced that it will address the highest-priority cost-allocation issues in 2006 and early 2007.

      Contrary to Sifto's assertions, the Handbook contemplated that the unbundling process would have impacts on customers and would change the status quo, but the Handbook provided some protection.  Distributors would have to address mitigation measures if distribution bill impacts exceeded 10 percent.  This wasn't the case for Sifto.

      Now, initially Sifto was concerned that errors had been made in the way it was to be billed as an RTPII customer when Westcoast performed the unbundling of its bills in its application in 2000.

     Adding the $132,000 in incremental cost of power to the unbundled bill would reduce the amount payable to Westcoast for distribution.  But once it became clear from Mr. Bacon's work that with RTPII-related adjustments that benefited Sifto would also come RTPII-related adjustments that would work to Sifto's detriment, Sifto discarded the RTPII approach and argued that Westcoast and the Board should ignore the fact that Sifto was an RTPII customer through 1999 and should instead treat Sifto as if it had been a standard large-use customer in 1999.  This has increased Sifto's claim from $132,000, to $600,000, to what is now roughly a million dollars.

      Westcoast has acknowledged that errors were made with respect to the power factor penalty and the diversity credit.  But Westcoast has submitted consistently that the only appropriate approach is to make all of the necessary adjustments.  This means, among other adjustments, using the correct coincidence factors applicable to Sifto's situation in 1999, and the recovery of the administrative charge that was typical of special rate plans.

      When all the proper adjustments are taken into account, Westcoast is now owed approximately $474,000.  Even if the Board were to deny the recovery of the administrative charge, Westcoast is still owed approximately $350,000 by Sifto.

      If I could just anticipate your question about the numbers, perhaps I can deal with that answer right now.

      I believe that the Board will find the values that Westcoast has calculated for the diversity credit and the power factor penalty at tab A of our March 10th submission.  That's Mr. Bacon's update of the amounts that he has calculated would be owed to Westcoast.

      Now, as you'll see, Mr. Bacon has columns for both the diversity credit owed to Sifto and the power factor penalty owed to Sifto.  Those are the two columns at the far right of that table at the second page of the tab.  Do you have that?

     MS. SPOEL:  Yes, thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yeah.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So you'll see $163,284 for the diversity credit, and $279,135 for the power factor penalty.

     Mr. Snelson's calculations were $277,483 for power factor, and $163,284 for diversity credit.

      Westcoast can accept Sifto's calculations on those numbers.  I don't think we're at odds there.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  But one thing I was going to be mentioning momentarily, and, in fact, I think I have already mentioned it, was the idea that we do think that we can resolve the numbers co-operatively once the Board makes its decision on this.

      Westcoast has also been consistent in its suggestion that the best course of action at this time is to maintain the status quo and await the results of the upcoming cost-allocation work.  That's what the initial Distribution Rate Handbook contemplated.  It's what former Energy Minister Baird contemplated in rejecting Sifto's request that he authorize the Board review its initial unbundling decision.  The diversity credit ended with market opening, so there's no longer a risk that maintaining the status quo perpetuates any failure to apply that credit.

     The error on the power factor penalty is being corrected with Westcoast Huron's May 1st, 2006 rates, so it's possible now to crystallize that amount now as well.

      In contrast, Westcoast has submitted that accepting the Sifto position results in reallocation in the absence of a cost-allocation study.  This is contrary to both the original and the new 2006 Distribution Rate Handbooks.  It ignores the cost-allocation work currently being performed by Mr. Snelson, Mr. Bacon, and others including Board Staff, and the cost-allocation work yet to be performed by Westcoast and the other approximately 90 electricity distributors across Ontario once the Board sets the parameters for that work.

      Sifto isn't the only customer in Ontario that's waiting for results of that work and that may be affected either positively or negatively by those results.

      Sir, I have a few comments about a number of the items in the Sifto submission, and the reason I said earlier that it's really related to the statement of the Westcoast position is that Sifto, of course, has taken issue with a number of these items that comprise the Westcoast position.

     First, the assertion that Westcoast hasn't shown that its proposal gives rise to just and reasonable rates.  As I mentioned earlier, Westcoast complied with the requirements of the Handbook.  As Mr. Bacon determined in 2002, Sifto should have been billed as an RTPII customer as that is the type of customer Sifto was in 1999.  In fact, that is the type of customer Sifto was from 1997 to 2001.

      When Mr. Bacon compared Sifto's bundled to unbundled bills on the same basis, that is, on the basis of Sifto as an RTPII customer, he confirmed that there was revenue neutrality.

     The fact is, and this hasn't been disputed by Sifto, RTPII customers were billed on a different set of coincidence factors than large-use customers, that is, than standard large-use customers.

      Sifto may believe that it should not have been billed on this basis after it decided to leave the RTPII program, but that doesn't change the manner in which RTPII customers were billed.

      Sifto suggests that the large-user rate was a current rate for Westcoast in 1999.  Westcoast may have had a large-user rate in 1999, just as it had residential and general service rates in 1999, but those rates weren't Sifto's rate.  Sifto was being billed on the basis of its status as an RTPII customer and should have been billed on that basis.

      Now, Sifto suggests that it's not true that, if its proposal is accepted, Sifto will have reaped benefits of RTPII and passed the obligations on to other customers.  Westcoast submits that this is simply wrong.  Of the over 900,000 Sifto says that it was owed, approximately $600,000 of that will be allocated to Westcoast's customers.  

     Now, admittedly that includes Sifto.  In fact, approximately 40 percent of that liability will be Sifto's.  Mr. Snelson confirmed that in his testimony, and my friend Mr. Smitheman has confirmed that this morning.

      But that still leaves $360,000, roughly, to be picked up by Westcoast's other customers.  And the Board's objective of protecting consumers with respect to prices must apply to all of Westcoast's customers and not only to Sifto.

      Now, there's one, actually, clerical matter I should bring to the Board's attention.  At paragraph 23 of the Sifto reply submission, Sifto states that a reference to the transcript made in Westcoast's responding submissions doesn't support the assertion that obligations are being passed on to other Westcoast customers.

      I apologize but there was an error in the Westcoast submission, actually.  At paragraph 44 of our submission, there is a reference to volume 1, page 141, lines 9-26 of the transcript.  When you open the document on the screen on your computer, page 141 is the page in the Word document.  In fact, the numbered page is 135.  So if the Board could simply acknowledge that -- simply note that change.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Sidlofsky.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, secondly, there has been an assertion by Sifto that hearsay evidence shouldn't be used to support an issue that's central to a proceeding, and Sifto has cited the Bond v. New Brunswick decision in its reply. 

      Just to touch on this briefly, sir, this is used to support the proposition that the gravity of the question could preclude an arbitrator from basing a decision almost wholly on hearsay evidence.  And, with respect, I suggest that this case can be distinguished from the matter before this Board.

      That case concerned a hearing regarding the dismissal of a psychiatric attendant on the basis of sexual assault allegations.  The court found that an allegation of criminality against a person is serious and has potentially dire consequences for the person accused.  Not only does stigma immediately attach to that person in the workplace and in the community, there is also the potential or likely loss of career.  And frankly, sir, there's no such stigma involved in the matter before you today.

      There are other areas in which that case can be distinguished.  There was conflicting hearsay evidence.  One, the adjudicator interpreted the complainant's use of the word "rape," which was a claim unsupported by the evidence.  And another witness had said that the complainant had told her that everything she had said about the dismissed employee in this case was untrue.  

     Sifto acknowledges, and it has acknowledged in its material, that there is a more relaxed evidentiary standard applicable to administrative tribunals, and then presents a case in which the consequences of a finding based on hearsay evidence could affect an individual's reputation, liberty, and/or career.  While the matter before you is clearly important to Sifto, the consequences attaching to the Board's findings are not analogous to the case that's been cited.

      In the case before you today, Mr. Bacon consulted an individual that could reasonably be understood to be familiar with the background of special rate programs.  

     There's no conflicting evidence as to how the coincidence factors were calculated or should have been calculated for distributors that had customers on the RTPII plan.  The fact that Mr. Bacon wasn't able to determine why the lower coincidence factors were used shouldn't be determinative of whether they are to be used.  What's relevant here is that Sifto's rates should have reflected Sifto's status in 1999.  Mr. Bacon's calculations achieve that.  

     If the Board wishes further information as to the basis for the lower coincidence factors to be applied in the case of an RTPII customer, Westcoast suggests that this is a matter that the parties can address co-operatively once the Board has determined the fundamental question of the basis on which Sifto should have been considered for the purpose of establishing unbundled distribution rates.

      Third is the assertion that it's not Sifto that's been unjustly enriched by obtaining four years of RTPII service without paying an administrative charge, but rather it's Westcoast that would be unjustly enriched if it received an administrative charge that was typical of special rate plans.

     I'm not going to dwell on this point; you have the written arguments before you.  But Sifto is suggesting two things:  First, that this matter somehow wasn't raised by Westcoast prior to argument; and, second, that this has no relevance to rates and that the Board is therefore not the place to be dealing with this.  And I should comment on those two assertions.

      First, Westcoast has been addressing the matter of the failure to pay an administrative charge since 2002.  This is nothing new, and this is not a matter that is only being raised in argument.  Mr. McCabe also, in his testimony, noted that having received the benefits of the RTPII program, Sifto should also be required to abide by the obligations that go along with that.

      Sifto's counsel, and Mr. Smitheman this morning as well, has suggested that where there's an express contract, there's no remedy of quantum meruit.  But Mr. Shelton apparently refused to sign any agreement with Ontario Hydro and with the Goderich PUC, even though he had agreed to do so in January 1997.  And his putting of his name to the January 1997 letter agreement got Sifto the preferred RTPII pricing it was looking for.  

     Even if there were an express contract, the Pure Energy case that's cited by Sifto recognizes that claims based on unjust enrichment can succeed where there is an express contract, even if the Board finds that there is an express contract in certain circumstances, for example, where the claim can be based on an implied contract between the parties made subsequent to the original contract and arising from some act of the person for whom the services were rendered; or unless the party rendering the services was prevented from completing the original contract as a result of some wrongful default or omission by the other party; or where the party receiving the benefit, in this case Sifto, has failed to perform its part of the bargain.  

     In this case Sifto took the benefits of the RTPII pricing because it was advantageous to Sifto, ignored its written obligation to enter into a written agreement with Ontario Hydro and the Goderich PUC, and then, when it no longer mattered to Sifto because it was no longer advantageous for Sifto to be on the special pricing plan in any event, has refused to pay an administrative charge typical of those agreements.

      Second, as for the administrative charge not being relevant to this proceeding, that's simply wrong.  As Mr. Bacon testified, the administrative charge would have formed part of Sifto's rates, and accordingly this is clearly a matter within the Board's jurisdiction.

      On the whole, the suggestion that Westcoast would somehow be unjustly enriched were it Sifto that received four years of preferred pricing and refused to pay any administrative charge for that service simply turns this matter on its head.

      As Westcoast submitted in its written argument, it should be entitled at the very least to its reimbursement for costs paid for RTPII billing services.  To order any less, we would suggest, means that Westcoast would have been subsidizing Sifto's RTPII service, creating yet another benefit for Sifto.

      Fourth, Sifto asserts that because Westcoast knew there were errors in the RUD model this should have been brought to the OEB's attention.  Now, this was notwithstanding that Sifto, which claims to have been wronged by Westcoast's initial rate application, did nothing to pursue its complaint with the Board in the seven months between sending its late-intervention letter to the Board in April 2001 and the Board issuing its decision on the Westcoast application in November 2001.

      And this is notwithstanding that Sifto apparently waited a year, from the fall of 2003 to the fall of 2004, to follow up on its request that Energy Minister Duncan refer this matter to the Board.  

     And this is also notwithstanding that even Sifto has acknowledged in its reply that it was not until Mr. Bacon was brought into the matter in 2002 that the extent of the problems became clear.

      Sifto suggests that if the Board had known there were problems it could have paid more attention to the Westcoast application.  As I've mentioned, the problems weren't clear until 2002.  But, that aside, one has to ask:  Where was Sifto during this time?  Sifto isn't an unsophisticated customer.  

     And yes, I understand from the record that there were discussions, and I understand from the evidence of the witnesses that there were discussions going on between Sifto and its consultant and Westcoast and its consultant, at that time Mr. Ioannou's firm. However, Sifto apparently made no effort in that seven-month period to follow up on its intervention request with the Board.  

     A significant part of Mr. Shelton's job was apparently to deal with electricity, and Sifto retained an expert consultant to assist it in this matter.  Westcoast submits that an intervenor has an obligation to pursue its intervention, and Sifto can't be allowed to shift that responsibility or the blame for its failure to pursue its intervention at that time onto Westcoast.

      Finally, at pages 17 and 18 of the reply, Sifto makes a number of comments about Westcoast's position on the relief requested by Sifto, and I have a couple of brief comment in that regard.

      No one is suggesting that Sifto's request for review of the Board's initial unbundled rate order for Westcoast caused a government rate freeze in November 2002.  That appears to be the suggestion in the reply, and that wouldn't make any sense, and it's not what Westcoast has said.

      What Westcoast has said is that its understanding is that the second tranche of its market-adjusted revenue requirement, which would have been recovered starting in 2002 and forward into 2005, wasn't granted at an earlier time because of the outstanding Sifto complaint.  While the Board's disposition of the Westcoast rate adjustment rate application has been held up by the complaint, at that point the province froze distribution rates in November 2002.  That would have amounted, according to the evidence, to approximately $100,000 over the three years.

     Westcoast isn't claiming this amount as part of its calculation as to what's owed by Sifto, but this is a clear illustration of the fact that Westcoast has also been harmed in this process, or has also suffered in this process.

     But Sifto has submitted that if Sifto receives adjustment monies over time, as Westcoast receives them, then Sifto should be entitled to carrying charges.  Westcoast doesn't object to this, but I should also make it clear that if Westcoast is required to pay the full amount to Sifto up front and recover a portion from its customers, including Sifto, over time, then Westcoast should be entitled to carrying charges on the outstanding balances as it would with any other regulatory asset account.

      In terms of the 5 percent charge that Mr. Smitheman has suggested, the 5 percent carrying charge, the Board has carrying charges that it applies on regulatory asset accounts now.  My suggestion would be that in either case, whether Sifto is to receive the money over time as Westcoast receives it or if Westcoast is permitted to set up an account to recover that money, then in either event, the interest that's applied should reflect the interest on the Board's regulatory asset accounts.

      Finally, Sifto suggests that Westcoast has said it can't consult with Sifto on its cost-allocation study.  That's not correct.  What we have said, what Westcoast has said, is that Sifto shouldn't have any preferential role in the Westcoast cost-allocation study.  Rather, Sifto should have the same opportunity for consultation that any other stakeholder has; no more, no less.  This is entirely fair and doesn't exclude Sifto from the process.  

     Distributors and customer groups alike are awaiting the Board's determination on the cost-allocation process, and there may well be customer groups that don't see eye to eye with Sifto on the appropriate allocation of costs among Westcoast's customer classes.

     Sir, those are my submissions.  I thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, Mr. Sidlofsky.  

     Ms. Spoel?


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

     MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Sidlofsky, one of the difficulties in this case, in my mind, is distinguishing between Sifto as a customer and a customer class, because of course there is only one customer in the class.  And it's helpful, I think, for me to try to distinguish in your argument between those two.  

     You referred a few minutes ago to looking at it as the type of customer that Sifto was in 1999.  I guess my question is:  If there had been two customers who were large users in Goderich, in the 1999 to 2001 period, would each of them -- let's say one had been an RTPII customer in 1999 and one had not - Windsor Salt is in Goderich as well, or some other large customer - would each of them have been stuck forever, in your argument, with their status in 1999?  Or would they have had the opportunity in 2001 or later to switch back and forth between the two classes?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm going to ask for just a moment to speak to Mr. Bacon about that.

     MS. SPOEL:  Certainly.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Ms. Spoel.  Just having had a chance to speak with Mr. Bacon, and I may throw this to him in just a moment, but let me try to give you the answer. 

      The two customers would be treated differently, based on, first of all, to begin with, based on their status in 1999.

     MS. SPOEL:  So you would have two rate classes?  

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The two customers would be treated differently.  The large-user rate would be the same, but there would be different coincidence factors.

     MS. SPOEL:  Then, moving on from there, let's say, in 2002 or 2001, the one that had been an RTPII customer - I don't know why I have trouble saying that - decided to become a large-use customer, would it then be allowed the same rate as the other existing large-use customer or would it have to continue on on its previous rate?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I could go back and forth with Mr. Bacon, but he's just aching to answer the question.

     MS. SPOEL:  Well, we don't really want to have evidence today.  To be fair, I should have probably asked Mr. Bacon these questions a couple of weeks ago but I didn't think of them until I read your argument yesterday.  

     So that's why I'm asking your position on that issue.  I realize it's completely hypothetical in this case, but I just wondered how far we can sort of push that argument, or how far you would take that argument; that once you're in a class, you're kind of stuck -- or in a rate, you're not in a class, but in a rate structure, you're there forever, or at least until the 2006 rates are done, or there's a cost-allocation study or something else changes.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And of course that's what we have said with Sifto, but I appreciate the notion that you had another similar customer.  So if I could have one more moment, I would appreciate that.  Thank you.

     Thank you.  I apologize.

     MS. SPOEL:  I've opened a can of worms here.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No.  No.  I think I can give you a fairly short answer.

      The rate that is derived for the large-user class based on 1999 conditions would remain in place until cost allocation.  And what that would mean is that the distribution rate that's derived for the large-user class would actually take into account Sifto's status as an RTPII customer -- 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Correct.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  -- and another standard large-use customer's status.  And you would have a rate and that rate would remain in place until cost allocation.

      So, the short answer is, once you're in there, you're in.  And the rate reflects the conditions, all the conditions, as they were in 1999.

     MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I hope that helps.

     MS. SPOEL:  Yes, it does.  Thank you.

     I have one last question, and that is, I just wanted to confirm that on the table you referred to in Appendix A to your argument, which was the calculated amount owing to Westcoast Huron Energy --

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That was at tab A?

     MS. SPOEL:  That was at tab A, the table you referred to with respect to the diversity credit and the power factor and so on.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.

     MS. SPOEL:  That the first column in that table, which refers to distribution owed to WCHE from Sifto payable to other customers, that that number of $1,081,580 comes about as a result of applying the 70 percent coincidence factor?  Am I correct in my understanding that that's how you came up with that amount owing?

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's correct.

     MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  That's it.  Thank you.  I just wanted to make sure I understood that.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I have no questions.

     MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board would like to thank parties for their very able argument, which really did get to the heart of the matter and has assisted the Board considerably.  

     As the parties no doubt know, time is of the essence.  While this dispute is of long standing, its resolution needs to be managed in a reasonably short time frame.  We have a series of rate decisions that are going to be made in the not-too-distant future, and I think it serves no party to have this linger unnecessarily, so the Board will do its level best to provide a decision, and a definitive decision, at the earliest possible time.  

     The Board wants to acknowledge that the parties have been very forthcoming and co-operative in terms of looking at some of the disparities in the numbers - and the Board will try on its own to try to resolve some of those disparities - and with the very co-operative attitude that I've seen today and expressed by the parties.

      That having been said, if there are matters that we think we need to go back to the parties to have them resolved, that is a process that we will not shy away from if it is necessary to do.

      Are there any matters in closing before we adjourn this proceeding?

      I'd like to thank the visitors for making the effort to come today.  It probably wasn't very entertaining but it's a pleasant day here in Toronto, and I'd like to thank you for coming.

      And once again I'd like to thank counsel, and Mr. Bacon and Mr. Snelson very particularly, for their very able assistance in attempting to assist us in resolving this very difficult issue.

      With that, the Board will stand adjourned, and we'll get a decision out as soon as we possibly can.  Thank you very much.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 10:30 a.m.
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